
Tal-y-Llyn church has been dedicated for centuries 
to the Blessed Virgin Mary. There is some evidence 
to suggest that it was earlier dedicated to St 

Tudur, one of a family of 6th century saints associated 
with Anglesey. His brother Tyfrydog is the patron of 
Llandyfrydog, about ten miles away. As with so many 
Welsh saints of this era, it is believed Tudur was buried 
on Bardsey Island. The church, originally a chapel-of-
ease to nearby Llanbeulan (also, since 2005, in the care of 
the Friends) now stands in splendid isolation on a raised 
mound which may date from prehistoric times, but in the 
Christian era formed the “llan” or sacred enclosure with 
the saint’s House of Prayer at its heart. 

H i s t o r y

The church once served a community of more than twenty 
households, which was all but destroyed by the mid-14th 

century ‘Black Death’. As with other simple buildings of this 
type, it is difficult to date, but the nave, almost a double-
square, may be of the 12th century, a dating strengthened 
by the round heads of the west door and of the belfry 
aperture above, and the fact that the original font, now in 
nearby Llanfaelog Church, is of that period. The building 
has undergone several enlargements. The 13th century 
chancel seems to have been enlarged in the 16th, probably 
at the same time as the Wood family chapel was erected. 
The family undertook major alterations to their house, 
Tal-y-llyn, c.1597, and the enlargement of the church is 
probably of the same date (one of the chancel roof trusses 
is of this period). The church was refurnished in the late 
18th century, and remained largely unaltered after that.  
It passed into the care of the Friends of Friendless 
Churches in 1999.

T h e  c h u r c h  t o d a y

St Mary’s is of plain and simple construction, the dressed 
stonework largely confined to the late 16th century 
windows. On the exterior of the three-light east window 
are two matching stones, the 
one carved with an H, and the 
other, now indecipherable, 
may have been a W. A similar 
feature, a stone with the initials 
HW, appears on one of the 
windows, of 1597, at Tal-y-Llyn 
House, the home then of the 
Wood family. 

The floor is stone-flagged, and 
the nave retains its medieval, 
narrow, stone benches, the 
sole seating provided in that 
period, along the north and 
south walls. This feature, 
rather curiously, is repeated in 
the 16th/17th century chapel, 
by which date, it would 
be supposed, it was redundant. The octagonal font, 
a sophisticated piece of work, dating from the 15th 
century and replacing the earlier one, is placed now, 
rather awkwardly, against the south wall of the nave, 
a positioning probably dictated by the 18th century 
refurnishing.

The nave seating is of particular interest, being no more 
than a series of backless planks trenched at one end into 
the stone benches, and supported by timber paddles at 
the other. Similar plank benches also survive at another 
Friends’ church on Anglesey, Llanfigael. Here at Tal-y-
Llyn one bears the date 1786. Unfortunately, before the 
church came to the Friends, all but one of these benches 
were stolen, and except for that survivor they are now 
skilful reproductions of the originals. Such rudimentary 
seating may indicate that the traditional posture of the 
congregation, standing for worship and sitting only for 
the sermon, survived here rather later than elsewhere.

 

Of particular interest in the chancel are the Communion 
rails and sanctuary panelling, the former clearly dated 
1764. Their blue-grey paint is characteristic of the 
period. Since coming into the care of the Friends, the 
interior walls of the church have been limewashed by 
Ned Scharer.
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Other Friends’ churches near 
St Mary, Tal-y-Llyn
St Bigail, Llanfigael 18th century church 
rebuilt in 1841 with a complete Georgian 
interior and three fonts, the earliest of them 
14th century (church open).

St Afran, St Ieuan and St Sannan, 
Llantrisant The present building dates 
from the 14th century but is on an earlier 
site, with a 17th century south chapel. One 
of our most remote, but most frequently 
visited, churches (church open).

St Peulan, Llanbeulan Not far from Tal-
y-Llyn. The carved font in this medieval 
church is an extraordinary work from the 
first half of the 11th century (church open).

St Baglan, Llanfaglan The church lies 
close to Anglesey overlooking Caernarfon 
Bay, a short distance from Caernarfon. 
Situated in a large field its form suggests 
pre-Christian origin and there is a fifth or 
sixth-century carved stone set in the porch 
(church open).

Who are the Friends?
The Friends love unloved churches. Without us, they would 
be torn down, sold as houses, or abandoned. Since 1957 we 
have campaigned for redundant churches to be preserved, as 
“sermons in stone”. 
In Wales our work is funded by Cadw and the Church in 
Wales. But in England we rely on the generosity of donors 
and members.
What do we do?
We preserve these churches for the local community and 
visitors to enjoy. We make them wind and water-tight, put 
back roofs and windows, repair drainpipes and stonework. 
And we make sure they are open, or have nearby friendly 
guardians to keep an eye on them. Friendless no more!
Please, will you join in and help us?
Maintaining and repairing them is a huge challenge. We rely 
on the generosity of people like you...
Join
Go online to friendsoffriendlesschurches.org.uk.
Your membership helps us to save churches. In addition, you 
will receive two beautiful newsletters, full of information 
about conservation projects, talks, meetings and books.
Donate
Send a cheque, payable to ‘Friends of Friendless Churches’ to 
FoFC, 70 Cowcross Street, London EC1M 6EJ.
Or go to our website.
We take great pride in spending only small amounts on admin. 
Donations go directly towards saving and repairing churches. 
A legacy could make an even greater difference.
Do speak to the Director on 020 7236 3934.
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